1976

Joseph L. Gasser, Jr. and Freda N. Gasser v. David M> Horne and Jeanne M. Horne : Brief of Appellants

Utah Supreme Court

NATURE OF THE CASE

Appellants (Plaintiffs) seek to recover their rights in real property and declare null and void, for lack of consideration and duress, an agreement between them and Respondents (Defendants) by which Respondents claim an interest in the property.

DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

The District court in and for Salt Lake County, Judge Ernest F. Baldwin sitting without a jury, rendered judgment for Respondents (Defendants) and awarded them the disputed real property interests, subject to certain encumbrances.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Appellants seek reversal of the lower court's judgment together with certain findings and conclusions on which the judgment is based, with the resulting effect that Respondents shall have no interest in the subject real property. In the alternative, Appellants seek a remand and a new trial before a jury, a right erroneously denied by the lower court.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

For ease of reference, citations to the trial transcript will refer to the transcript page numbers as "Tr. ____". Other parts of the record will be cited "R. ____".

Prior to 1973, Appellants (Plaintiffs) JOSEPH S. GASSER and FRED A. N. GASSER, his wife, (for convenience sometimes referred

to collectively herein as the "GASSERS") owned 42.5% of a mobile home park in Layton, Davis County, Utah, known as "Hillgate Terrace". The remaining interests were owned by a Smith Family (15%) and Dr. Skankey (42.5%). The interest was subject to a mortgage in the amount of \$139,000.00 to Dr. Skankey as security for other obligations, and an additional mortgage of \$225,000.00 to a group headed by Dr. Skankey (referred to in the record as the "Skankey group") as security for further indebtedness of the GASSERS. The \$225,000.00 was secured as well by a mortgage on an apartment house owned by the GASSERS in Missoula, Montana along with other securities. (See Tr. 29, 104 and 122 and Ex. 18-D). The Hillgate Terrace was subject also to a first mortgage to another financial institution, not in issue here. (Tr. 106).

In order to obtain funds with which to pay the Skankey group and Dr. Skankey, to purchase the interests of Smith and Skankey in Hillgate Terrace, and to make improvements thereon, Mr. GASSER began negotiating in early 1973 for a loan of at least \$1 million against Hillgate Terrace. His preliminary investigations indicated that the money supply was tight and the loan may have to carry an additional guarantor. Mr. GASSER approached Defendant DAVID M. HORNE who indicated a willingness to guaranty or co-sign the loan. GASSER and HORNE made a joint application to Prudential Federal Savings (Ex. 14-D) which was rejected, and thereafter made application to American Savings & Loan Association for a loan, concerning

which the additional relevant events occurred. Subsequently, HORNE demanded 50% interest in Hillgate Terrace as a condition of co-signing on the note and mortgage. A draft agreement was prepared by Joseph L. Henriod, Esq. in early April 1973 (Ex. 4-P) incorporating the terms agreed to by HORNE and GASSER. In substance, if GASSER could complete the loan in 60 days without the necessity of HORNE's signature, HORNE would have no interest in the property; otherwise, HORNE would co-sign the note and mortgage and receive a 50% interest.

During the time HORNE and GASSER were negotiating with American Savings & Loan, and GASSER was seeking means of concluding a loan without HORNE's signature, a foreclosure action was underway in Montana by which Mr. Henriod, or Montana counsel at his direction, sought to collect funds due Dr. Skankey or the Skankey Group. (Tr. 287). Mr. Henriod represented the Skankey group. Both previously and subsequently, he represented DAVID M. HORNE on other matters. (Tr. 319). Although he claimed not to represent HORNE in the negotiations with GASSER here in dispute, he drafted and revised the agreements in question and discussed all matters pertaining to HORNE's interests either with GASSER directly or with GASSER's counsel, James L. Baker, Jr. (Tr. 290 and 301; Ex. 17-D).

GASSER and HORNE subsequently renegotiated their terms after American Savings & Loan committed a loan which might be resold

on a 90% participation to Equitable Savings & Loan in Portland, Oregon. In substance, HORNE agreed to permit the GASSERS to have the mortgage and the Hillgate Terrace if the loan could be sold to Equitable with only the GASSERS signing on the loan. Otherwise HORNE demanded his 50% of Hillgate Terrace. HORNE would not be obligated to pay any other consideration for that 50% interest.

During the final week of concluding the American Savings & Loan deal beginning June 25, 1973, the GASSERS objected to sign the HORNE Agreement which had been redrafted in several forms by Mr. Henriod (Exs. 5-P, 6-P and 22-D) because they did not like the limitations which required selling the loan to Equitable within 30 days as the only condition which would render HORNE's signature unnecessary. Mr. Henriod advised the GASSERS that if they did not sign the agreement, he would complete his foreclosure for the Skankey group. (Tr. 336). The GASSERS felt they would "lose everything" by such action, (Tr. 174) and finally, even against the advice of their own counsel (Tr. 226), they executed the HORNE agreement. That agreement is the principal issue in this appeal, together with the circumstances inducing execution of the same.

On or about June 29, 1973, the loan with American Savings was closed with a special escrow set up through Ralph Marsh, Esq. of Backman, Backman & Clark. Out of the proceeds of the loan as actually closed, the Skankey Group was paid approximately \$401,600 (Ex. 7-P). In a simultaneous transaction, the Montana properties were sold and Dr. Skankey and the Skankey Group paid all monies

a note and trust deed with related documents signed only by the GASSERS, the other having a note and trust deed signed by both the GASSERS and the HORNES. (Tr. 205). The trust deed signed by the GASSERS was actually recorded on July 2, 1973 and the documents signed by the HORNES are still in escrow. Thus, under the operative documents, the HORNES never did assume liability on any note or mortgage. Equitable declined to purchase the loan after it was closed by American Savings, but as of January 22, 1974, the loan was sold on a 75% participation basis to Far West Savings & Loan, Portland, Oregon. American Savings had earlier indicated a willingness to grant the GASSERS a loan without the HORNES, at a higher interest rate (Tr. 124,239), but "backed down" from that offer prior to June 29, 1973 when Mr. Henriod and Mr. HORNE made known their demands for the 50% interest for HORNE and made it appear "too messy" for American Savings to deal further with GASSERS on another basis. (Tr. 242).

By reason of the duress felt by the GASSERS as well as the apparent lack of consideration in the HORNE Agreement, Mr. GASSER initiated this lawsuit to prevent the escrow agent from recording the deed which would have conveyed the 50% interest to the HORNES, and to determine further the rights of the parties.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE HORNE AGREEMENT IS NULL AND VOID FOR LACK OF CONSIDERATION.

The HORNE Agreement as a written document requires little comment because it is manifest in the record in several different forms. Exhibit 4-P was the first draft, never executed, but important as factual background in showing the state of mind of the parties and other circumstances while negotiating the subsequent versions. Exhibit 4-P did not consider the undisputed second mortgage to Mr. GASSER's father which is mentioned in handwritten interlineation in two of the executed versions. It also said nothing about escrowing any documents, nor did it mention the proposed sale to Equitable Savings & Loan as later defined. The record evidences considerable discussion about the change in Paragraph 3 of Exhibit 4-P by which ". . . in the event GASSER is successful in removing HORNE from liability . . . " was changed to use "eliminating" instead of "removing". Thus the intent of the parties was evidenced that HORNE may never become liable for the loan. Consequently, it would not be necessary to "remove" a liability which did not exist, but rather to "eliminate" the need for HORNE to become liable.

Exhibits 5-P and 22-D are identical except that 5-P does not show the signature of Mrs. GASSER. These versions, like the others, were prepared by Mr. Henriod and typed in his office after

conference with Mr. HORNE and Mr. GASSER. Exhibit 6-P, the other manifestation of the HORNE Agreement, does not refer to the \$65,000 second mortgage to Mr. GASSER's father, but all parties admitted that no dispute exists with respect thereto. (Tr. 304). It appears that 6-P was made operative because it shows the acknowledgement of Ralph Marsh as escrow agent on June 29, 1973 and also evidences on the first page that it was document #2 on that date, presumably a convenient reference during the closing. But 6-P has more critical differences, as compared with 5-P and 22-D, which relate to the intent of the parties as well as execution inducement circumstances.

In Paragraph 3 of Exhibit 6-P, the clause ". . . HORNE shall receive no interest in said property by reason thereof . . ." appears in context with the sale to Equitable. In Paragraph 4, concerning sale by American Savings to no party other than Equitable, appears the phrase ". . . to the extent GASSER is able to control the actions of American Savings and Loan, . . .". These changes were inserted at the suggestion of James L. Barker, Jr., counsel for the GASSERS, in his discussions with Mr. Henriod, who appeared to be representing HORNE. (Tr. 145-146). Although Mr. Barker advised the GASSERS against signing the agreement (Tr. 226), he recognized the pressures they were under and thus attempted to gain some relief by not tying the GASSERS to actions of American in marketing the loan elsewhere, over which they may have no control. His changes also emphasize the intent that the HORNES would have no interest

in the property in the event a sale of the loan with the GASSER's signatures alone was successful. Exhibit 6-P is the only Agreement version showing the changes requested by Mr. Barker.

The perspective will be broadened in a later demonstration that HORNE did not become liable on the note as a matter of fact (and law) after execution of the HORNE-GASSER Agreement and closing of the loan by GASSER. We argue here the elementary concept that the Agreement lacked consideration ab initio. Of striking significance in the Agreement is the fact that HORNE makes no promise or covenant whatever! The last "Whereas" clause recites that HORNE is willing, under certain conditions, to provide financial backing for the loan. That clause does not represent a specific covenant, although the agreement to perform some unarticulated act might be inferred from the context and explained by parol evidence. Even that inference is questionable when it is remembered that HORNE joined with GASSER on an earlier application to Prudential (Ex. 14-D), but never did intend to become liable to Prudential. (Tr. 357). Perhaps he intended no liability at American Savings either, but in any event, he achieved just that. Without an express covenant by HORNE, the consideration recited of "mutual promises and agreements of the Parties" must be interpreted as showing no consideration. Only GASSER makes promises in the Agreement. There is no "mutual" promise of HORNE. In undisputed testimony, HORNE told

GASSER that he would not take compensation for signing a note and mortgage if he could get released within a reasonable time. (Tr. 112). With that intent, HORNE made no promise even to become obligated, and in fact, never did. Without mutuality of obligation, there is no consideration. On its very face, therefore, the Agreement is unenforceable and of no effect.

As a result of the foregoing, the lower court's Finding No. 5 (R. 228) is erroneous in finding that HORNE agreed to become personally liable on the \$1,050,000.00 note to American Savings. Further, Finding No. 15 (R. 230) is erroneous in its statement that the Agreement was supported by fair and adequate consideration. This Court, on appeal, must find and conclude that the Agreement lacked consideration ab initio and did not subsequently develop any consideration which would support GASSER's promises. The lower court's judgment should be reversed on that ground.

Even if the Court construed HORNE's actual signature on the alternative note as extrinsic evidence to the Agreement supporting an inference that HORNE promised to become liable, then the Court must also consider external circumstances concerning whether HORNE actually became liable. In the first instance, a lack of promise created a lack of consideration. In the second instance, although a promise may have been inferred, there was a failure of consideration when HORNE did not actually become liable on the operative

documents. The lower court's willingness to give effect to a contract which either lacked or failed for consideration, or both, cannot be upheld.

The Court will observe from the record that the note and Trust Deed from the GASSERS (without the HORNES' signatures) was actually sold to Far West Savings & Loan under a participation by which American retained 25% and the servicing. (Ex. 1-P, Tr. 246, 251). After the closing through escrow on June 29, 1973, that Trust Deed was recorded on July 2, 1973. The participation agreement between American and Far West (part of Ex. 1-P) clearly evidences in Paragraph VI that no loan could be sold which was in default. American represented that the payments were current, but such could not be so without payments from the borrower. The record is clear, however, that HORNE was never asked to pay and never did pay any portion of the payments, even as of the date of trial 18 months after the sale to Far West. Also, the participation certificate clearly indicates that JOSEPH S. GASSER, JR. was the principal debtor, and no mention is made of HORNE. At no time did HORNE attempt to assert that he was liable with GASSER on the note, for the record is devoid of any suggestion that he contacted American Savings or Far West after the loan was closed and sold, to assert his interest in the property and his liability on the note. By his own admission, HORNE never was billed for any payment. (Tr. 361). GASSER received all the coupon books and arranged to make

34

1

†

KE

231 (Ore. 1969); White v. Saby, 260 P.2d 1116 (Mont. 1964). Moreover, although the general rule is that almost any benefit to a promisor or detriment to a promisee, however slight, can constitute consideration, there must be some benefit, profit, or advantage to the promisor or some loss, detriment or inconvenience to the promisee. See Swindel v. Kelly, 499 P.2d 291 (Alaska 1972); Kadish v. Kallof, 414 P.2d 193 (Ariz. 1966); Blonder v. Gentile, 309 P.2d 147 (Calif. 1966).

A recent Utah case, Manwill v. Oyler, 361 P.2d 177, 11 Utah 2d 433 (1961) adopts the general position followed by other courts. The Manwill case involved an action on an alleged agreement to repay to the Plaintiff the amount of payments he had made on the Defendant's behalf. The court held that in order for a contract to be binding, each party must be bound to give legal consideration to the other by benefitting him or suffering a legal detriment at his request. Mere moral obligation is not a valid consideration. In the case at bar, HORNE did not suffer a legal detriment and GASSER did not gain a legal benefit, either in the language of the Agreement as written or in the actual implementation of the loan from American Savings which was contemplated by the Agreement. HORNE did not promise to pay, give up or otherwise suffer anything under the terms of the Agreement. When the loan was finally made and also when it was sold to a participating institution, only the GASSERS were bound by the documents. HORNE

did not promise to become and did not actually become liable on the note. GASSER would have no recourse against HORNE for payment by contribution. Neither American Savings nor Far West Savings had any legal right to impose liability on HORNE for payment. Indeed, they did not intend to rely on HORNE and have not actually done so; HORNE has not paid and has not been requested to pay one penny toward the loan. Yet he tries to rely on this lack of consideration as a basis for recovering 50% of a mobile home park!

POINT II

THE HORNE AGREEMENT IS NULL AND VOID AS HAVING BEEN EXECUTED BY THE GASSERS UNDER DURESS.

This part of Appellants' argument is both more difficult to explain and more sensitive. Without intending to reflect adversely on acts of opposing counsel, we are nevertheless forced to include a description of the performance of Mr. Henriod as part of the circumstances constituting duress. Ordinarily, neither the court nor opposing counsel would have any right to tell another attorney whom he must represent. Yet it is part of Appellants' claim here that Mr. Henriod either represented the HORNES as their counsel in the GASSER transactions, or acted in such manner as to lead the GASSERS and their counsel, Mr. Barker, to believe such representation existed. By objective evidence later detailed, the record supports the proposition that both HORNE and Mr. Henriod

led the GASSERS to believe Mr. Henriod had authority to bind the HORNES. Under the evidence, the HORNES must be so bound by acts of Mr. Henriod.

The duress which should invalidate the HORNE Agreement is briefly summarized as follows:

1. Mr. Henriod, acting on behalf of the HORNES, threatened the GASSERS that if they did not sign the HORNE Agreement, the Skankey foreclosure on property of the GASSERS would be completed;

2. Mr. Henriod and HORNE threatened American Savings Loan that they must go through with the GASSER-HORNE loan or suffer litigation at a time when American may have granted a loan with higher interest rate to the GASSERS alone without the HORNES and with a pre-committed sale; and

3. Mr. Henriod had an unconscionable conflict of interest in representing the Skankey Group and HORNE through at least part of the GASSER transactions.

The detailed factual and legal arguments to follow will amplify Appellants' contentions that the facts in the record support Appellants' positions as summarized above and do not support the lower court's Findings No. 12 (claiming that Mr. Henriod did not represent HORNE), No. 14 (claiming that Plaintiffs were not induced, coerced or intimidated) and No. 15 (claiming that Defendants were not guilty of other wrongful or improper conduct). (R.

Subject to later discussions of certain legal and evidentiary points, the detailed evidence concerning duress on the GASSERS is demonstrated by the following recapitulation:

1. The so-called Skankey Group was represented by Mr. Henriod (Tr. 290), but Dr. Skankey personally was represented also by Richard Harris, Esq. (in Mr. Marsh's escrow office in the meeting of June 20, 1973 (Tr. 76), and according to Mr. Henriod's testimony. (Tr. 345).

2. Early in the HORNE-GASSER negotiations, Mr. HORNE told Mr. GASSER, in undisputed testimony, that Mr. Henriod was his attorney. (Tr. 78). Thereafter, Mr. Henriod admittedly prepared the draft agreement, Exhibit 4-P (Tr. 292) and commenced discussions with HORNE and GASSER resulting in 5-P, 6-P and 22-D (Tr. 86). Although GASSER and HORNE commenced initial discussions without the assistance of Mr. Barker for GASSER and Mr. Henriod for HORNE, it was only natural that the definitive agreements would be prepared and reviewed by the respective counsel. HORNE turned to Mr. Henriod for this purpose because Mr. Henriod had represented him on prior matters (Tr. 319) and obviously commenced representing him in connection with this lawsuit after it was filed (Tr. 331).

3. During a meeting at Mr. Henriod's office attended by HORNE and GASSER on June 27, 1973, HORNE demanded his 50% interest in Hillgate Terrace under circumstances which caused GASSER to

walk out of the meeting rather than state what he really felt. (Tr. 84). Later, Mr. Henriod told GASSER that he should work things out with HORNE. (Tr. 86). Exhibits 5-P, 6-P and 22-D followed those discussions.

4. Even though Mr. Barker's position as counsel for GASSER was known, Mr. Barker permitted GASSER to speak directly to Mr. Henriod on most occasions without Mr. Barker's intercession as counsel. (Tr. 103).

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