1976

Joseph S. Gasser v. David M. Horne : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

"Q. And so at that time you knew that unless Mr. Horne put his agreement, signature to that agreement that he was insisting on at that time that the money would go back again to American Savings and Loan and Mr. Gasser would lose everything he had, you knew that at that time, did you not?

"A. You have asked me at least two questions. Responding to the first one, did I know that the money was there? The answer is yes, yes.

"Did I know where the money would go if it didn't finalize? I didn't know where it would go. He might have had another deal, he is always saying he had alternative routes, he may have gone another way.

"Third, I never made the statment that he would lose everything he had.

"Q. Well, you were threatening to foreclose.

"A. Yes, I was threatening to foreclose but that was only part of his assets." (Tr. 336-337)

When asked about the alleged "threat" by Mr. Henriod in Horne's office, Horne testified as follows:

"Q. Did you at any time on that date [June 28] hear Mr. Henroid [Henriod] state in substance and effect to Mr. and Mrs. Gasser unless they sign Exhibit 5-P that they would lose everything they had?

. . . [Objection of counsel overruled]

"The witness: No, I did not." (Tr. 355)

As authorities for their argument, Appellants cite

Dittbrenner v. Myerson, 114 Colo. 448, 167 P.2d 15 (1946); and Terrel v. Duke City Lumber Co., Inc., 86 N.M. 405, 524 P.2d 1021 (1974). These cases support the trial court's findings. In Dittbrenner, the court found the plaintiff was coerced when she was forced to sign a conveyance and agreement. Yet the court did so after testimony that the plaintiff was in fear of "injury to her person" and the destruction of her property. Also, the court found constructive fraud in the inducements made to the plaintiff. In the instant case, there is no evidence that Gassers were ever in fear of physical injury to themselves or destruction of their property. (Tr. 187) The Colorado court also characterized the plaintiff as a weak woman with a lack of business judgment. This case has since been cited as applicable to weak and incompetent persons. Certainly Appellants cannot be so characterized.

Terrel v. Duke City Lumber Co., Inc., supra, merely supports Respondents' argument that the trial court's findings are affirmed when supported by the evidence. In Terrel, the New Mexico court, affirming the findings of economic duress by the trial court, stated:

"The charge of economic compulsion, like fraud, is one easily made. . . . It must therefore be proven by clear and convincing evidence. . . .

. . . .

"It is a well settled rule that this court, on appeal, will . . . view the evidence in an aspect most favorable to the judgment and the party prevailing below. . . . [T]he weight of the evidence is not considered on appeal, rather only, if there is any substantial evidence to support the verdict. . . ."

. . . [citations omitted]

"The above cases conform with the ordinary rules of review of the record on appeal. That is, presumptions are in favor of verdicts and reviewing courts will view the facts in the light most favorable to the prevailing party, will indulge in all reasonable inferences in support of the verdict, and will disregard all inferences or evidence to the contrary. Further, it is for the jury and not the reviewing court to weigh the testimony, determine the credibility of witnesses, reconcile inconsistent or contradictory statements of witnesses and say where the truth lies. . . . [citations omitted] We will review the evidence to determine if it is sufficient to establish, clearly and convincingly, the claim of economic compulsion."

Upon examination of the trial court's findings in Terrel, the appellate court detailed numerous incidents over several years which established a pattern of consistent conduct by the defendant to ruin the plaintiff financially so as to acquire his lumber business. The defendant creditor continually "meddled" in the plaintiff's business until the plaintiff was deprived of all economic decisions.

Appellants Gasser did not meet their burden of proof in the trial below. The evidence clearly preponderates against their claims. Even under the "Terrel test" which Appellants ask this Court to apply, Respondents did not act in a "commercially unreasonable manner" by asking for a 50% interest in exchange for a 100% liability. Neither was Mr. Henriod unreasonable in pressuring for the payment to his clients of \$350,000.00 in already delinquent notes.

This Court is well aware of its prior decisions regarding duress and coercion. Reliable Furniture Co. v. American Home

Assurance Co., 24 U.2d 93, 466 P.2d 368 (1970); Reliable Furniture Co. v. Fidelity & Guaranty Insurance Underwriters Inc., 16 U.2d 211, 398 P.2d 685 (1965); Fox v. Piercey, 119 Utah 367, 227 P.2d 763 (1951); and Ellison v. Pingree, 64 Utah 468, 231 Pac. 827 (1924).

In Fox, this Court applied the modern subjective standard which asks the question:

"Did the threats or coercive acts put one entering into the transaction in such fear as to preclude the exercise by him of free will and judgment? Age, sex, capacity, relation of the parties, attendant circumstances must all be considered. Persons of a weak or cowardly nature are the very ones that need protection. The courageous can usually take care of themselves." 227 P.2d at 766.

Appellants' argument confuses the old objective standard with the modern subjective standard articulated by this Court. Probing a person's actual state of mind is purely subjective and at best can only be analyzed by reference to objective and visible signs such as are noted above. Chief Justice Wolfe, concurring, alerted the Court to the inevitable dangers of a subjective approach:

"I see merit in the so-called modern rule that any threat which actually puts the victim in such fear as to compel him to act against his will constitutes duress but it has reaches which ramify into the realm of psychology and, in its practical application, may encounter difficulties of discernment between the sly and the timid. The brash and robust mind may easily later on take a sensitive hue. 'The devil a monk would be' if it might aid recovery." 227 P.2d at 768.

This is precisely the approach now taken by Appellants. In order to resolve financial problems of their own making, Gassers arranged their agreement with Hornes so that Gassers

could purchase the entire mobile park and take home \$94,000.00 in cash. Gassers, now pointing to their new sensitive natures, claim rescission when the transaction did not work out as anticipated by them.

However, the Court in Fox, realizing this danger of the modern, subjective form of analysis which they adopted, provided a caveat:

"We approve this modern rule. It is obvious that applying this subjective test might theoretically degenerate to a point where a person desiring to avoid a contract might claim that practically any conduct of another put him in fear and overcame his will. It is necessary that there be some objective standard for determining when duress has been practiced. It must appear that the threat or act is of such a nature and made under such circumstances as to constitute a reasonable and adequate cause to control the will of the threatened person, Ellison v. Pingree, supra. 17 Am. Jur. 885, note 15 and authorities there cited.

"Notwithstanding the fact that we approve this modern and liberal rule as a test of whether or not duress has been practiced, under all the authorities, ancient and modern, the act or threat constituting duress must be wrongful." [Emphasis added] 227 P.2d at 766.

In essence, this Court designed a three-prong test: the acts complained of must constitute reasonable and adequate cause to control the will of the complainant; the acts must actually put the complaining victim in such fear as to compel actions against his will; and the acts must be wrongful.

In Ellison v. Pingree, supra, this Court was asked to review facts similar to the instant case. Pingree's company, the Ogden Packing and Provisions Company, incurred heavy financial losses and was unable to pay Chicago creditors.

Security was demanded by these creditors and they threatened Pingree with civil and criminal actions for fraud and actions against the company for its indebtedness. In March, after a week of negotiations, Pingree agreed to deliver personally secured notes for the indebtedness. However, a few months later Pingree suggested modifications of the agreement which were opposed by the creditors. Threats of criminal prosecution were reiterated. In June, Pingree signed an agreement to secure obligations of \$250,000.00. At all times Pingree was represented by and consulted with his attorney. His counsel advised him not to sign the agreement; but when told by Pingree that he must, the attorney tried to get for him the best deal possible by suggesting modifications in the terms of the contracts. Later, Pingree sued to rescind the agreement, claiming that the same was without consideration and was obtained by duress.

The court analyzed the age, financial condition of the plaintiff, the relative positions of the parties and other surrounding circumstances of the transaction. Since the plaintiff was a wealthy businessman of varied experience and during all the negotiations had the benefit of legal counsel, the court indicated there was no duress involved. Furthermore, the court stated that Pingree, in a large measure, had dictated the terms of the agreements and was largely benefited by being released from a prior contract. Regarding duress, the court stated:

"'. . . duress will not ordinarily invalidate a contract entered into after opportunity for deliberate action. Duress by mere advice, direction, influence, and persuasion is not recognized in law. Nor can a charge of legal duress be based on mere vexation and annoyance, mere pecuniary distress, a threat to injure one's credit, or the refusal to surrender property on which one has a lien.'

. . .

"'A person in his right mind and in full control of his faculties, who understands what he is doing and who has full power to enter into a legal transaction or to refuse to do so, does not act under duress if he enters into such transaction.'" 64 Utah at 476-477.

There is no duress when Appellants are free to come and go and to consult with counsel. Ellison v. Pingree, supra; Three Rivers Motors Co. v. Ford Motor Co., 522 F.2d 885 (3d Cir., 1975); Palatucci v. Woodland, 166 Pa. Super. 315, 70 A.2d 674 (1950), and cases cited therein.

Again, in Ellison, the court commented on the allegation of lack of consideration in urging the claim of duress:

"It would be a needless task to undertake to point out why the contention is untenable. The mere fact that Mr. Pingree not only had a pecuniary interest, but a very large pecuniary interest in maintaining the credit and integrity of the company, was one sufficient consideration for the contracts." 64 Utah at 478.

In Reliable Furniture v. Fidelity and Guaranty Insurance Underwriters, Inc., supra, this Court, applying the law of Fox and Ellison, reversed the trial court's summary judgment and remanded the case for a decision on the evidence. This Court stated the general rule that the fact one is in financial need inducing him to accept a settlement will not, of itself, provide a basis for relief. 398 P.2d at 687. However, as

quoted by Appellants, since the plaintiff also claimed fraud by the insurance company, the court could not find, as a matter of law, that there was no duress. At trial, the lower court dismissed plaintiff's case after hearing the evidence. This Court affirmed, stating that there was insufficient evidence of fraud or duress. Reliable Furniture v. American Home Assurance Co., supra. The plaintiff could not claim fraud and duress after he had cashed the insurance checks and accepted the benefits of the agreement. There exists the same situation in the instant case. Not only did Gassers accept the benefit of the agreement, but they also ended up with a cash payment to them of \$94,000.00 from the proceeds of the loan.

POINT IV

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN DENYING APPELLANTS A JURY TRIAL.

Appellants' argument that they were entitled to a jury trial is equally without merit. For purposes of seeking this Court's review of the trial court's findings, Appellants suggest this case is an action in equity. But when they come to discuss the alleged deprivation of their "rights" to a jury trial, Appellants would have us treat this case as an action at law.

The case was originally set for non-jury trial on October 11, 1974. How the case was set on the jury calendar Respondents and the lower court were unable to determine.

Contrary to the suggestion of Appellants, both parties did not "expect a jury trial." Certainly Respondents entertained no such expectation and when it was learned that Appellants had apparently requested a jury (without any notice to Respondents) moved to strike the case from the jury calendar. (R. 214-215) Respondents' motion to strike was granted. (R. 218, 220)

(1) Appellants' brief states the nature of the case to be an action to declare a contract and agreement null and void; that the suit was brought to rescind that agreement and to cancel a deed in escrow. (R. 1-2) An action to cancel an instrument or rescind a contract for fraud or duress is an equitable action and does not entitle a party to trial by jury. Johnson v. Johnson, 9 U.2d 40, 337 P.2d 420 (1959); Summers v. Martin, 77 Ida. 469, 295 P.2d 265 (1956); Goodson v. Smith, 69 Wyo. 439, 243 P.2d 163 (1952), reh. den. 244 P.2d 805; Liles v. Bigpond, 190 Okla. 112, 121 P.2d 596 (1942), and numerous authorities cited by these courts. In Goodson, a deed was already placed in escrow and the defendants counter-claimed for specific performance. In Bigpond, the Oklahoma court interpreted a statute very similar to §78-21-1, Utah Code Annotated (1953), and held it inapplicable to an action for rescission or cancellation of an agreement to convey.

This is not an action to recover the possession of real property within the purview of §78-21-1, U.C.A. (1953). The decisions of this Court are certainly dispositive of the issue. In Johnson, this Court held that a suit to declare certain

instruments void for reason of duress or undue influence was properly characterized by the trial court as an action in equity and, therefore, no jury trial. A review of Appellants' complaint shows that the issues raised are wholly and purely equitable in nature. And, only recently, this Court stated that when the principal thrust of a case is equitable, to-wit: specific performance (Respondents' requested relief), the lower court properly denied a trial by jury. Bradshaw v. Kershaw, 529 P.2d 803 (Utah, 1974).

At the time of trial Appellants did not make any demand to the court that the case be tried to a jury. Rather, Appellants' counsel sought to characterize the action as one for injunctive relief (R. 1-2); "to retain the status quo" (T. 97)--further indication that the issues presented are equitable. See, also, Sweeney v. Happy Valley, Inc., 18 U.2d 113, 417 P.2d 126 (1966).

(2) Appellants failed to make proper demand for a jury trial under the requirements of Rule 38(b), Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, and the then local rule, Rule 15, Rules of Practice in the Third Judicial District Court. Both rules require written demand and Rule 38(b) requires that the written demand be served on the opposing party. As admitted by Appellants, the record reveals that no written demand was filed nor ever served on Respondents. Yet the failing party begs excuse, crying that since Respondents later learned of a "jury demand," no harm was done. After all, Appellants

claim, following the requirements of the rules is not important. This Court has previously been acquainted with the failure of these Appellants to follow the requirements of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure and then later beg this Court's indulgence. Rule 38(b) states that demand must be served on Respondents in writing. Substantial performance cannot be accomplished by merely paying the requisite jury fee and hoping the opposing party learns about it sometime in the future.

The trial court has discretion to permit or deny trial by jury, particularly when demand was improper. The denial of a jury trial when demand is improper is not an abuse of discretion. Sweeney v. Happy Valley, Inc., supra; James Manufacturing Co. v. Wilson, 15 U.2d 210, 390 P.2d 127 (1964), and cases cited therein. The trial court did not abuse its discretion when, after hearing arguments of counsel and considering the authoritative cases from this Court, it granted Respondents' motion to strike from the jury calendar. (R. 218)

In asking this Court to remand this case for a jury trial, Appellants are raising an issue not raised at trial or after trial. The Supreme Court cannot look dehors the record on appeal and consider facts which are stated in a brief but are absent from the record. Cooper v. Foerstlers Underwriters Inc., 123 Utah 215, 257 P.2d 540 (1953). It is the responsibility of Appellants to see that all matters essential to a decision